IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ARTURO BENEDITH,) Appellant,) vs.) STATE OF FLORIDA,) Appellee.)

CASE NO. 89,368

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

GEORGE D.E. BURDEN ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0786438 112 Orange Avenue, Suite A Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904) 252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The record on appeal is annotated in the following manner: the letter "R" is used to designate the guilty phase trial court record on appeal; the letter "P" is used to designate the penalty phase trial court record. Unless stated otherwise, all objections or motions that are listed were overruled or denied.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Arturo Benedith, hereinafter referred to as the Appellant, was indicted for first-degree murder from a premeditated design and robbery by the Brevard County Grand Jury on September 29, 1993. (R523) Initial court appointed counsel, Timothy J. Bradley, filed a motion to withdraw based upon a deterioration of the attorney/client relationship. (R586) Attorney Bradley's motion to withdraw was granted. (R591) Subsequent counsel, Gregory W. Eisenmenger, filed a motion to withdraw based upon the fact that Benedith filed a grievance with the Florida Bar against Attorney Eisenmenger. (R620; 63)

Appellant moved to strike the State's notice of intent to seek the death penalty. (R633; P35) Appellant moved to strike the jury panel because of the comments of Juror Baskin. (R48) The trial court denied the motion to strike the panel and gave a curative instruction. (R49) The Appellant objected to the jury venire because the venire was selected only from the northern end of the county. (R128) The trial court denied the Motion to Strike the jury venire based on insufficient facts. (R129) Appellant renewed the Motion to Strike on numerous occasions. (R335,468,527,671,796,897) Appellant motioned to exclude felony murder as a means to find first-degree murder based upon the language on the grand jury charging document. (R478; 491)

During jury selection, Appellant objected to the Court instructions concerning the weighing of evidence and requested a curative instruction. (R290, 92) Counsel subsequently moved for a mistrial based upon trial court's instructions to the jury venire. (R383, 84) Appellant made four challenges for cause against various jurors during the jury selection process

which were denied. (R522,658,661,790,897) Counsel requested an additional peremptory challenge to remove Juror Wyatt. (R897) The trial court denied the request for an additional peremptory challenge. (R897) Appellant then objected to the composition of the jury panel. (R897)

After the jury was seated, Appellant objected to trial court variations from the standard instructions, and objected to the instruction on transferred intent. (R997) In addition, the court granted the state's Motion in Limine concerning the cross-examination of state witness Lane. (R1037) The trial court also denied the Appellant's Motion in Limine precluding the state from using felony murder. (R1045) During opening statement, the Appellant made a Motion for Mistrial based on the prosecutorial comment "defendant fled to the state of New York." (R1071) During the testimony of state witness Scott Kurzawa, the Appellant objected to the question, "Did the victim discuss with you a plan for that evening?" based upon hearsay. (R1103) The Appellant also objected to testimony by Kurzawa that the victim placed an advertisement for his automobile based upon hearsay. (R1106)

Appellant objected to the state calling Larry Gilbert as a witness without making prior disclosure. The trial court conducted a <u>Richardson</u> hearing, and found there was no discovery violation. (R1109,1112) During the testimony of Robert Duncan, Appellant objected to the following question based on hearsay. "What did Lane indicate to you when you showed him the photo lineup?" (R1161, 1162) Also, during the testimony of John Kline, the Appellant objected to the introduction of State Exhibit #13, an American Cab business card with the letters "S U W" written on it. (R1465) Appellant requested that the deposition of Witness Loblack be published to the jury for impeachment purposes. (R1628)

The State introduced a printout from the auto tag office in Rockledge to show proof of ownership of the victim's vehicle. (R1686) Appellant objected to the introduction based on hearsay. (R1694) The court reserved ruling. (R1694) The Appellant renewed its objection to the introduction of the vehicle registration as not being self-authenticated and a discovery violation. (R1776) The trial court conducted a <u>Richardson</u> hearing. The trial court ruled that there was a <u>Richardson</u> violation, but that the violation was inadvertent and there was no significant prejudice to the Appellant. (R1788) The Appellant also objected to the introduction of State Exhibits #34 and #35 (bullets test fired from the alleged murder weapon), based on the lack of proper predicate and chain of custody. (R1822,1826, 1840) The trial court also permitted the introduction of State Exhibit #36 (the vehicle registration) over counsel objection for not being admissible as a recorded recollection. (R1849)

During the testimony of Nanette Rudolph, the Appellant claimed a discovery violation for not being provided notes of Rudolph. (R1851) The trial court denied counsel's claim relying upon <u>Geralds v. State</u>, 601 So.2d 1157 (Fla. 1994). (R1851) The Appellant also objected to the introduction of the alleged murder weapon for the failure to show the proper chain of custody, and insufficient evidence connecting the gun to the Appellant. (R1877)

The State rested. The Appellant moved for a Judgment of Acquittal on first-degree premeditated murder. (R1933) The trial court denied the Motion for Judgement of Acquittal; however, the trial court ruled that it would not instruct the jury on first-degree premeditated murder, but will allow that charge to go to the jury.¹ (R1938) The Appellant also made a Motion

¹ The trial court subsequently directed that only First Degree Felony Murder be placed on the verdict form. (R715, 1992, and 1993)

for Judgment of Acquittal on felony murder and robbery. (R1938; 1946) Appellant moved to strike Exhibits #36 and #38 as being improperly admitted (R1946); renewed previous motions for mistrial as well as his objection to the jury composition (R1947,1949); and moved to strike the testimony of Nanette Rudolph in regards to comparison of items not in evidence and moved for a mistrial. (R1955) Counsel also moved for a Judgment of Acquittal based on the lack of sufficient evidence for felony murder and robbery. (R1968) Thereafter, the defense rested. (R1971) After the defense rested, the State presented a proffer of testimony of witness Robert Carrasqullo. (R1980) Thereafter, the Appellant renewed all previous objections. (R1986)

During the charge conference, Appellant objected to the standard jury instruction number 3.01. (R2025) Also, the Appellant requested a jury instruction on the charge of accessory after the fact. (R2029) Appellant requested a two hour closing argument. (R2036) The trial court would permit 75 minutes of argument. (R2036) Appellant also objected to the order of the principle instruction and the added instructions made by the trial court. (R2189) The jury found the Appellant guilty of first-degree felony murder and robbery with a firearm. (R2197) After the verdict, the Appellant moved to strike the two alternate jurors for seeing the Appellant in shackles. (R2202)

During penalty phase, the trial court allowed Detective Nichols to testify to co-defendant Terry Thomas and Nathaniel Allen's age over Appellant's objection. (P41) The Appellant objected to the state evidence in support of the prior violent felony aggravating factor on the grounds that the testimony was becoming a feature of the trial; and the prejudice of the testimony outweighed its probative value. (P46) The defense also made a motion for mistrial based on improper prosecutorial argument. (P55,57)

5

Appellant objected to the testimony of Gerald Garafalo asserting that the prejudice of his testimony outweighed its probative value after the previous testimony of Ross. (P96) Moreover, during the testimony of Garafalo the defense objected to hearsay testimony concerning statements made by co-defendant Velasquez concerning the prior violent felony. (P102) The Appellant objected to the testimony that Thomas Taylor was fourteen years old at the time of the crime. (P114) The Appellant objected to the testimony of Blanca Mercette on the grounds that this testimony was making the proof of the prior violent felony a feature of the penalty phase. (P121) The defense counsel subsequently moved for a mistrial based on the testimony of Mercette arguing that the testimony's prejudice outweighed its probative value. (P123) Further efforts to strike testimony by Mercette was denied over objection. (P124) The State rested in the penalty phase. (P128) After the State rested, the Appellant moved to strike the panel as being tainted by the presentation of the evidence concerning the prior violent felony. (P130)

During the Penalty Phase charge conference, the State requested instructions on felony murder and prior violent felony aggravating factors. (P143) The Appellant requested modification of the two statutory mental mitigators to be nonstatutory mental mitigators. (P147) The Appellant further objected to the addition of without possibility of parole in the penalty phase instructions. (P151) Moreover, the Appellant objected to the felony murder instruction for lack of evidence in the penalty phase. (P155) The trial court also denied Appellant's requested instruction "however mental mitigation must be considered and weighed." (P159) The trial court also denied the requested instruction concerning duress and domination. (P161) The Appellant rested in penalty phase. (P229)

During the penalty phase testimony of state witness Dr. Riebsame, the Appellant moved

for a mistrial based on the doctor's testimony that Benedith was arrested for forgery. (P250) The trial court denied the motion for mistrial, but ordered the jury to disregard testimony. (P250) The state made a proffer for the record as to why they did not seek the death penalty against the co-defendant. (P273) The State did not seek the death penalty because of age of the co-defendant, and the offer of second-degree murder was made to avoid a trial. (P273)

During the closing statement of the state, the Appellant moved for mistrial based on improper argument that the state made a misstatement of evidence claiming that Benedith had planned the murder. (P282) The motion for mistrial was denied and a curative instruction was given. (P282) Counsel for the State and Appellant objected to penalty phase jury instructions. (P320)

The Appellant objected to the release of Juror Miron based on a conflict. (P323) The State introduced a proffer that they had evidence that the Benedith's mother and sister tried to fabricate an alibi for Benedith. (P325) The jury returned a death recommendation by a vote of 10 to 2. (P336)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Scott Kurzawa and John Shires were roommates in May of 1993. (R1101) According to Kurzawa, Shires used two cars, a red Nissan and a small white car. (R1101) In the early evening hours of May 5, 1993, the red Nissan was in their garage. (R1102) According to Kurzawa, Shires was going to attempt to sell one of his cars the evening of May 5th, 1993. (R1105)

George Lane was residing in Room 43 of the Colonial Motel. (R1116) Lane had six or seven prior felony convictions of crimes involving dishonesty. (R1116) After Lane came home from work, a young boy Lane knew came to his room to visit. (R1117) The boy didn't stay because Lane had to take a bath. (R1117) Subsequently, Lane left the Colonial Motel to run an errand. (R1119) Upon his return from the errand, Lane observed two black males and a "white dude" standing beside a red car looking at some papers. (R1119) According to Lane, the "white dude" had the papers and was standing in the door with the papers in hand. (R1120) One of the black males was in front of the door and the other black male was behind the "white dude." (R1120) The black male in front of the car door was the young boy that had come to his room earlier. (R1120) Four or five minutes after Lane returned to his apartment, he heard three gunshots. (R1121) Moments later, Lane peered out his window and saw the guy that came to his door earlier jump in the car real quick and the car took off. (R1121) Lane identified Benedith as being one of the black males he observed talking to the victim as he returned home from his errand minutes before the shooting. (R1122)

Lane admitted that when initially interviewed by the police, he told the police he didn't see anything because he didn't want to get involved. (R1143) Lane further testified that prior to the

8

shooting the young boy that came to his room earlier was trying to hide something under his shirt.
(R1155) In fact, Lane's girlfriend alerted Lane that the boy was trying to hide something.
(R1155) The boy kept patting his shirt, checking what was there. (R1155)
George Lane identified State Exhibit AE as the car he saw with the victim and the two black
males prior to the shooting. (R1395) The car was a four door and had tinted windows. (R1394)
According to Lane, when he observed the automobile it was facing south. (R1397) After the
gunshots, the car sped off and turned left down a dirt road and out of sight. (R1399)

In May, 1993, Ishmael Loblack worked as an auto mechanic in Melbourne. (R1247) He lived in a trailer behind the auto repair where he worked. (R1248) On May 5th, 1993, two black males visited him, one of those black males was Benedith. (R1249) According to Loblack, Benedith wanted to paint a car that he was going to get and go to New York. (R1250) Loblack stated that they would have to come back another time. (R1250) That evening Benedith and another male returned with a red Nissan, which Loblack identified in State Exhibit AE. (R1250-51) Benedith (who called himself "Tony") stated that he got the Nissan and wanted Loblack to paint it because they were going to New York. (R1252) Loblack had known Benedith as "Tony" for about six weeks prior to the murder of John Shires from the "Daily Bread," a soup kitchen nearby. (R1259) Loblack also had picked out Benedith in photo line-ups on May 17th and June 7th. (R1262-64) During cross-examination, Loblack admitted that he began abusing drugs and alcohol from 1992 through 1994, principally alcohol and crack cocaine. (R1270-72)

INVESTIGATION

Officer Brian Bice was the first officer on the scene after the shooting of John Shires.

(R1357) Bice observed a white male lying face up in the parking lot of the Colonial Motel suffering from gunshot wounds. (R1358) As Officer Bice arrived, there were two unidentified people kneeling over the victim rendering aid. (R1364) According to Bice, the victim had a pulse, was still breathing but unconscious. (R1359) Emergency medical personnel arrived seconds later. (R1359) The victim was deceased at the hospital when Officer Bice arrived there to follow up. (R1363)

Detective Dennis Nichols was the lead investigator in the shooting death of John Shires. (R1523) According to Nichols, Benedith was 5'9" tall in May of 1993. (R1534) Nichols admitted that a person by the name of Mr. Vickers was an eyewitness to the murder, but was not interviewed by Detective Nichols. (R1556) Nichols further stated that he conducted a photo line-up with pictures of Thomas Taylor and Benedith that were shown to Ishmael Loblack and George Lane on June 17th of 1993. (R1557-60)

Robert Duncan was in charge of the Melbourne Police Department homicide unit in May of 1993, and was called to the Colonial Motel after the shooting. (R1157) As a part of his investigation, Duncan showed Lane a photo line-up. (R1161) According to Duncan, Lane identified the Benedith as one of the persons he saw on the night of the crime. (R1166) Duncan conceded that expense money had been given to witness Lane and reward money was given to witness Loblack. (R1172) According to Duncan, immediately after the shooting a red vehicle was found in front of the Colonial Motel by police. (R1190) The car that they found was a Nissan Pulsar. (R1190) The Melbourne police also located a red Nissan Sentra during the investigation. (R1196) After Melbourne police secured the Nissan Sentra, the Florida Department of Law Enforcement was contacted to process the vehicle. (R1196) Duncan also took statements from witness Loblack and showed him the photo line-up pictures on May 7th and June 7th. (R1218,1227)

John Williams operated a boarding house in Melbourne in May of 1993. (R1435) According to Williams, Benedith stayed at his boarding house in May of 1993, and went by the name of Tony. (R1440-42) John Kline was an evidence technician for the Melbourne Police Department in May of 1993. (R1458) Kline processed evidence in the boarding house room that was used by Benedith. (R1460) From the boarding house room, Kline removed a card, a Pepsi bottle, a blue tray, and a rice bag with white powder. Kline also removed, State Exhibit #13, an American Cab business card with the letters "S U W" on it. (R1465-66)

CAUSE OF DEATH

On May 6th, 1993, Dr. Wickham, the Brevard County Medical Examiner, performed an autopsy on John Shires. (R1282) According to Wickham, Shires had three gunshot wounds; two wounds to the face and one wound in his back. (R1284-87) One gunshot embedded in Shires' jaw; one shot lodged in the vertebral column, rupturing an artery leading to the brain; and the third shot was to the victim's back and passed through his heart. (R1288) According to Dr. Wickham, the cause of death of John Shires was from the gunshot wounds. (R1301) Dr. Wickham also testified that the gunshot wounds were "distance gunshot wounds" and not at close range. (R1306)

FINGERPRINT EVIDENCE

Kelly May was a latent fingerprint analyst for the Florida Department of Law Enforcement

in May of 1993. (R1588) May processed a vehicle for fingerprints at the Melbourne Police Department on May 6th. (R1592) The car had the vehicle identification number XMX851874. (R1598) The automobile was a red Nissan, and May removed five latent prints from the hood (R1599), a print from the right fender (R1617), a latent print from the hood right fender (R1618), a latent print from the left hood (R1619), and three latent prints from the left hood fender (R1620). According to May, the left side of the vehicle was the driver's side and the right side of the vehicle was the passenger's side. (R1628)

Gary McCullough is a Florida Department of Law Enforcement crime analyst in the latent print section. (R1640) According to McCullough, fingerprints found in State Exhibit Nos. 16 and 33 both contain fingerprints belonging to Benedith. (R1650) McCullough also testified that the fingerprints found in State Exhibit Nos. 18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31, and 32, also belonged to Benedith. (R1650-57)

MURDER WEAPON

Jose Cortez is a New York City police officer. (R1694) On June 10th, 1993, Cortez responded to an apartment at 1175 Vyse Avenue in the Bronx. (R1695) Upon entering the apartment, Cortez observed five individuals in a room. (R1695) One individual handed a bag to a second individual who then tossed the bag out the window. (R1695) Cortez identified Benedith as the individual who initially had the bag in his hands when he entered the apartment. (R1696) Officer Henry Pulow, a New York City police officer, retrieved the bag and brought it to Officer Cortez. (R1697) According to Cortez, a firearm was found in the black bag that was thrown out the window. (R1698)

Julio Velasquez testified that the defendant was in possession of a black bag that contained

a .32 caliber revolver on June 10th, 1993, in the apartment in the Bronx. (R1721) Velasquez further testified that on that date a person named Carlos was the one that threw the gun out the window. (R1729)

Patrick O'Shea was a New York City policeman working the ballistic section. (R1730) O'Shea testified that the .32 caliber revolver retrieved in the Bronx that he examined was inoperable. (R1731) O'Shea repaired the gun and test fired twenty-one rounds and seven test rounds. (R1733-35) According to O'Shea, he sent all the test rounds to Florida to Nanette Rudolph of the Florida Department of Law Enforcement. (R1735) Moreover, according to O'Shea, the damage to the gun did not effect the barrel or the lands and grooves of the gun. (R1741-43) Also according to O'Shea, State Exhibit #13, the cab business card with the letters "S U W" on it stands for Smith and Wesson long, the cartridge that would fit the .32 caliber revolver. (R1742)

Nanette J. Rudolph is a firearms examiner at the Florida Department of Law Enforcement. (R1792) According to Rudolph, the bullets in State Exhibit #37, the twenty-one bullets test fired in New York, and the bullets in State Exhibit Nos. 34 and 35, were fired from the same gun. (R1880)

PENALTY PHASE

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