IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO: 89,368

ARTURO BENEDITH,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE/CROSS APPELLANT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH
ATTORNEY GENERAL

JUDY TAYLOR RUSH
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No: 0438847
444 Seabreeze Boulevard, Suite 5
Daytona Beach, Florida 32118
(904) 238-4990

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

Finally, assuming *arguendo* that the testimony was improper victim impact evidence, *Benedith* is entitled to no relief as the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. See *Windom*, 656 So.

2d at 438-439. There is no reasonable possibility that the jurors advised imposition of the death penalty based on the complained-of comments. **Benedith** is entitled to no relief.

POINT IX

**THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN INSTRUCTING THE
JURY ON THE AGGRAVATOR, MURDER-COMMITTED
DURING-THE-COURSE-OF-A-FELONY, I.E., ROBBERY.**

The trial court did not err in instructing on the potential aggravator, murder-committed-during-a-felony. **Benedith** made no objection at the time the instruction on this potential factor was given. (R 378-379). Neither did he object at the charge conference when the State said it wanted the two aggravating factor instructions given.³¹ (R 209).

Further, at a post-jury sentencing hearing, the defense

31

Later, when the judge indicated that in conjunction with the committed-during-a-felony aggravator, he would also instruct that "before you can recommend a sentence of death, you must find . . . **Benedith** . . . was major participation in the felony of robbery , . . and this major participation is combined with reckless indifference by . . . **Benedith**, to human life," (R 219), defense counsel objected that he did not believe "that there's any evidence" of such participation by **Benedith**. (R 220). The State listed the evidence which it felt would establish both major participation and indifference to human life, and the trial judge ruled it to be "a jury question." (R 221). There was no objection to the giving of the committed-during-a-felony aggravator on any basis other than sufficiency of the evidence as to reckless intent. Thus, the issue raised on appeal is not preserved.

complaint about the aggravator was argued. Defense counsel did not raise the issue asserted on appeal, to-wit: That an instruction on an aggravator not supported by the evidence "skews the analysis in favor of imposition of the death penalty." (IB at 70). Rather, trial counsel argued only that the evidence on the issue of "how the defendant acted . . . , whether . . . his actions were indifferent . . ." to life **was** insufficient. (R 451). Later, he made it clear that his argument went only to "[t]he question of intent for John Shires to die."³² (R 455). Thus, the argument raised on appeal was not presented to the trial court and is not, therefore, cognizable in this Court. **Steinhorst v. State**, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1982); **Judd v. Rodman**, 105 F. 3d 1339, 1341 (11th

32

As a separate issue, defense counsel below complained that 'since he could not have been convicted but for the underlying felony, the underlying felony is really subsumed in the conviction and carries very little weight as an aggravating factor. (R 458). However, he contended that "the Supreme Court resolved that issue . . . coming up with the additional requirement that in **a** felony murder case, the State has an additional burden . . . to show the defendant . . . was a major participant in the felony murder itself. But then they must also show that the defendant acted with reckless indifference to the life." (R 451). Although this issue was not raised on appeal, the State points out that the contention is incorrect. No additional burden has been placed on the State seeking to establish committed-during-course-of-a-felony. All the State needs to establish is a murder occurred during a felony in which the defendant participated. See State's Cross-Appeal, Initial brief, Point I, **infra**, at 95.

Cir. 1997) ["[A]n objection on specific grounds does not preserve the error for purposes of appeal on other grounds"]. See *Wyatt v. State*, 641 So.2d 355, 360 (Fla. 1994) [inflammatory objection below cannot support hearsay claim on appeal - issue not preserved].

The claim that *Omelus v. State*, 584 So.2d 563 (Fla. 1991) requires a reversal and a new penalty phase is without merit. *Omelus* does not stand for the proposition asserted; rather, its holding regarding the HAC factor instruction was simply that the HAC "aggravating factor cannot be applied vicariously." 584 So.2d at 566. See, e.g., *Williams v. State*, 622 So.2d 456, 463 (Fla. 1993) ["We have expressly held that this aggravating factor cannot be applied vicariously, absent a showing by the State that the defendant directed or knew how the victim would be killed." *citing Omelus*] ; *Archer v. State*, 613 So.2d 446, 448 (Fla. 1993). *Omelus* did not know how his hit man would murder the victim, and therefore, the choice of an HAC method of murder could not be imputed to him. 584 So.2d at 566.

The committed-during-the-course-of-a-felony aggravator was applicable to Benedith's case. He personally participated in the crime. Thus, there was no improper instruction. The standard for the giving of a jury instruction on a potential aggravator is "some evidence." See *Hunter v. State*, 660 So.2d 244, 252 (Fla. 1995) .

Clearly, the evidence of Benedith's participation in the subject crimes exceeded that threshold,

Finally, Benedith complains that "[t]he actions by Appellant would necessarily have been viewed by a lay person as occurring during the course of robbery with reckless regard for human life." (IB at 70). This claim is procedurally barred because it was not raised below.

Further, assuming *arguendo* that the statement is true, it does not entitle Benedith to relief. There is no requirement that the State prove that the felony murderer committed the crimes with reckless disregard for human life in order to be entitled to that aggravator. Finally, even if such a proof was required, Benedith's claim is without merit as the jury **was** instructed that it had to make such a finding, unless it concluded that Benedith was the shooter, or intended that the victim be killed or that lethal force be used. (R 378, 379; T 2163-2164). Further, the sufficiency of the evidence on that point was argued to the jury by both the State and the defense.³³ (R 353-356, 364; T 2052, 2130).

As Benedith points out, the jury is presumed to follow the

³³

Further argument was made to the trial court in a hearing held subsequent to the jury recommendation. (See R 451, 454-455).

law, (IB at 71-72), and therefore, if the evidence was insufficient to establish the aggravator, it must be assumed that the jury rejected it. See *Wyatt v. State*, 641 So.2d at 360 [citing *Sochor v. Florida*, U.S. ___, 112 S.Ct. 2114, 119 L.Ed.2d 326 (1992)]. There is nothing but Benedith's unsupported speculation to indicate that the jury "found" the allegedly improper aggravator and relied on same in rendering death recommendation. "[I]t cannot be presumed that the jury found the existence of aggravating factors not supported by the record." *Wyatt*, 641 So.2d at 360.

In *Banks v. State*, this Court faced a similar issue. The CCP aggravator submitted to the jury was not found by the trial court. No. 83,774, slip op. at 3 (Fla. Aug. 28, 1997). This Court held: "The fact that the trial judge did not determine the existence of CCP does not preclude a finding of harmless error." *Id.* There was some evidence supporting the CCP instruction, three other aggravators, and little mitigation. *Id.* This Court held that any error in giving the CCP instruction was harmless. *Id.*

The same result should be reached in the instant case. Clearly, there was evidence supporting the committed-during-a-felony aggravating factor instruction. The mitigation was so slight as to be almost non-existent, and although there was only one other aggravating factor found by the trial court, it was

especially compelling. Emphasizing the importance of the prior violent felony aggravator, the trial judge said:

First, after major participation in the robbery which lead to the death of John Shires on May 5, 1993, the defendant orchestrated another robbery attempted using the same firearm that killed John Shires. The Defendant had a .32 caliber pistol, socks, and handcuffs. The Defendant put the firearm to the head of the victim and said he would have to kill her.³⁴

(footnote added) (R 517-518). The prior-violent-felony aggravator was particularly weighty, far outweighing the scant mitigation. As a result, any error in giving the challenged instruction was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.³⁵ *Banks*.

POINT X

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO STRIKE JURORS FOR CAUSE.

Benedith claims that the trial court should have stricken three prospective jurors for cause, i.e., Juror Wyatt, Juror

34

Indeed, the reason the later victim was not killed appears to be that the crime was interrupted by two men, Ms. Mercette's friend and the couple's neighbor. (See R 190).

35

Although another aggravator is not needed for this Honorable Court to conclude that any error was harmless, the State points out that the trial judge erred in failing to find the committed-during-a-felony aggravator. Since the State was entitled to that aggravator, as a matter of law, this Court could consider same in determining the harmlessness of any error.

Taylor, and Juror Lang. (IB at 73). He represents that "[t]he defense exhausted their preemptory challenges and requested additional preemptory challenges." (IB at 73). He also claims that "[t]he defense stated that had they had the opportunity, they would have used a preemptory challenge on Juror Wyatt." (IB at 73). **Benedith** misrepresents the record in several respects.

First, the defense did not exhaust its preemptory challenges. When the jury and alternates had all been selected, **Benedith** still had one unexercised preemptory. (T 942). At the time he asked the court to excuse Juror Wyatt for cause, he still had two remaining preemptories.³⁶ (T 897, 898). Rather, he wanted the court to give him 'an additional preemptory challenge to exercise against Miss Wyatt."³⁷ (T 897) .

"To show reversible error, a defendant must show that all preemptories had been exhausted and that an objectionable juror had to be accepted.'" *Hall v. State*, 614 So.2d 473, 476 (Fla. 1993) [quoting, *Pentecost v. State*, 545 So.2d 861, 863 n.1 (Fla.

36

Contrary to appellate counsel's claim, **Benedith** never said "had he had the opportunity," he would have used a preemptory on Juror Wyatt; he had two such challenges remaining at the time.

37

The judge had previously given both sides two additional preemptories. (T 785).

1989)]; *Trotter v. State*, 576 So.2d 691, 693 (Fla. 1990). The defendant must specify which juror he "otherwise would have struck peremptorily," and that person must have been challenged or objected to "after his peremptory challenges had been exhausted." *Trotter*, 576 So.2d at 693. Benedith did not exhaust all of his peremptories; thus, he did not meet the standard. This issue is procedurally barred.

The test for determining juror competency is whether the juror can lay aside any bias or prejudice and render his verdict solely upon the evidence presented and the instructions on the law given to him by the court.

Lusk v. State, 446 So.2d 1038, 1041 (Fla. 1984), cert. *denied*, 469 U.S. 873, 105 S.Ct. 229, 83 L.Ed.2d 158 (1984). "[T]he competency of a challenged juror is a mixed question of law and fact, the resolution of which is within the trial court's discretion." *Hall*, 614 So.2d at 476. Benedith has failed to allege, much less show, that the trial court abused his discretion in denying the for-cause challenge to Juror Wyatt.

Benedith's objection to Juror Wyatt is that she 'stated that she would not take in to account a prior conviction in judging evaluating the credibility of a witness." (IB at 73). That statement is the entire appellate complaint about Juror Wyatt, and the State submits that such a barebones presentation of an issue is

wholly insufficient for appellate review. Therefore, the complaint about Juror Wyatt is procedurally barred.

Assuming *arguendo* that the Juror Wyatt issue is properly before this Court, it is without merit. The record reveals the following:

[Prosecutor]: In determining credibility in a criminal case or in a trial setting, would you take into account things like whether they have a criminal record, whether or not they have pending criminal charges, or whether they were paid money?

[Juror Wyatt]: You mean the witness or --

[Prosecutor] : The witness, yes.

[Juror Wyatt]: No.

(T 768). Later, Defense Counsel wanted to challenge Juror Wyatt "for cause based on her answer to the question that she would not take into account whether or not someone who had been convicted of a crime" (T 790). The judge sent for her and asked:

[The Court]: If I instructed you that a witness's prior conviction of a crime is something that you would consider in determining whether or not that witness was a credible person, could you follow that instruction?

[Juror Wyatt]: Yes, sir.

[The Court]: Okay. Counsel have any questions? . . . Defense?

[Defense Counsel]: No, sir.

(T 790, 791). The "[c]hallenge for cause [was] denied." (T 791) .

Still later, Defense Counsel again sought to have the court excuse Juror Wyatt for cause on the identical basis. (T 895-896). The court responded: 'The one that said she could follow the law after I asked her . . . ?" (T 896).

Again, the test is "whether the juror can lay aside any bias or prejudice and render a verdict solely on the evidence presented and the instructions on the law given by the court." *Smith v. State*, No. 83,485, slip op. at 4 (Fla. July 3, 1997). In *Smith*, this Court expounded:

The trial court is able to see the jurors' voir dire responses and make observations which simply cannot be discerned from an appellate record. *Taylor v. State*, 638 So. 2d 30, 32 (Fla. 1994). It is the trial court's duty to determine whether a challenge for cause is proper. *Id.* Since the carrying out of this duty poses a mixed question of law and fact, the trial court's determination will not be overturned in the absence of manifest error. *See Mills v. State*, 462 So.2d 1075, 1079 (Fla. 1985).

The trial judge made it clear that the witness's voir dire responses, and his observations of her as she made those responses, satisfied him that she met the *Lusk* standard. He said:

For the appellate court's edification, I believe this juror was straight forward with the Court when the Court posed the question. And from the demeanor, the appearance, and the responsiveness to the question of the Court, I conclude she was credible when she said she would follow the law. Your motion -- your challenge for cause is, therefore, denied.

(T 896-897).

In *Penn v. State*, 574 So.2d 1079, 1081 (Fla. 1991), this Court said that there is no abuse of discretion in denying challenges for cause where the jurors "ultimately demonstrated their competency by stating that they would base their decisions on the evidence and instructions."

[T]he trial court is in the best position to observe the attitude and demeanor of the juror and to gauge the quality of the juror's responses. . . . So long as the record competently supports the trial court's interpretation of those words, appellate courts may not revisit the question.

Johnson v. State, 660 So.2d 637, 644 (Fla. 1995). See *Gore v. State*, No. 80,916, slip op. at 3 (Fla. July 17, 1997).

Very clearly, Juror Wyatt said that she would base her decision on the instructions given her by the trial judge.³⁸ Thus, she was not objectionable, and the record competently supports the lower court's interpretation of her words. Benedith cannot demonstrate prejudice because he has not shown that he had to accept an objectionable juror. See *Johnson; Penn.*

The issue of for-cause challenges to Jurors Taylor and Lang are procedurally barred because the only challenge to the composition of the jury was based on the trial judge's refusal to

³⁸

When given the opportunity, Defense Counsel did not attempt to impeach her, or inquire further, on that assertion.

excuse Juror Wyatt for cause. (T 897). Since there was no mention of Jurors Taylor and/or Lang, the issue is not preserved.

Further, the issue is otherwise procedurally defaulted. Benedith's objection to Juror Taylor is that he "demonstrated unwillingness to follow the Court's instruction on aggravating factors focusing upon whether Appellant had remorse." (IB at 73). That statement is the entire appellate complaint about this juror. Such a barebones presentation of an issue is utterly insufficient to have it reviewed by this Honorable Court on appeal. It is, therefore, procedurally barred.

Assuming *arguendo* that the Juror Taylor issue is properly before this Court, it has no merit. The record shows:

[Prosecutor]: Do you understand . . . , it's the burden on the State to prove the aggravators . . . ?

[Juror Taylor] : Yes.

[Prosecutor]: Okay. And if . . . the State failed to convince you beyond a reasonable doubt that the aggravators existed, . . . would you be able to recommend a life sentence?

[Juror Taylor] : Yeah.

[Prosecutor]: Do you have any question in your mind about that?

[Juror Taylor]: No. . . .

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